IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-01271-COA

CHERELLE L. GERMAN

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Cherelle L. German

THIS day of November, 2008.

Respectfully submitted,

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS For Cherelle L. German

By:

George T. Holmes, Staff Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WAS GERMAN'S TRIAL RENDERED UNFAIR BY

INEFFECTIVE DEFENSE COUNSEL?

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE

EXCLUDED POLYGRAPH EVIDENCE?

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER THE VERDICT IS CONTRARY TO THE

WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, Mississippi where Cherelle L. German was convicted of child abuse in a jury trial conducted May 12, 2008, with Honorable Andrew K. Howorth, Circuit Judge, presiding. German is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections under a sentence of 40 years with ten10 suspended, 30 to serve.

FACTS

In the middle of the night November 7, 2005 Scott Mills, a Lafayette County Sheriff's investigator, received a call about a "possible child abuse case" alleged to have occurred the day before in Oxford. [T. 41-44]. Mills responded to Oxford's Baptist Memorial Hospital and was "briefed by a nurse and doctor" about an injured two-month-old girl, Makia German, who was in the emergency room. *Id.* The child was intubated,

stabilized and being prepped for transport to LeBonhuer Hospital in Memphis by helicopter. *Id.* Mills was able to take some photographs before Makia was flown out. *Id.*

Mills spoke to Makia's mother, Toya Hilliard, alone. [T. 44]. Toya said she worked from 8:00 a. m. to 7:30 p. m. at the University of Mississippi the previous day and arrived home finding Makia fussy and not wanting to eat. [T. 44-45, 127, 133-34]. Makia had bruising on her face. *Id.* Previously, she had been fine. *Id.* Makia's unusual behavior and appearance was such that Toya went to a neighbor to get some advice. *Id.* Then Toya called the baby's clinic and was advised to go on to the emergency room, which she did. *Id.* Toya reported to Investigator Mills, and testified at trial as well, that her boyfriend, the appellant, Cherrelle German, father of the two-month-old, informed Toya that Makia had turned over in a "bouncy seat". *Id.*

After speaking with Toya, Mills next interviewed Cherrelle, who was also at the hospital, and wrote out a statement based on the interview which Cherrelle signed. [T. 46-47; Ex. 10]. Without any warning under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U. S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 6 L. Ed. 2nd 694 (1966), Cherrelle told Mills he was at home with Makia and Toya's two other children, fathered by two other men, and that the infant girl fell over in a bouncy seat while German went to use the rest room. [T. 46-48; Ex. 10]. This statement of Cherrelle was admitted into evidence without objection. [T. 58-59].

Once Makia departed to LeBonhuer, Mills went with Toya and Cherrelle back to their house at 2105 Delores Drive in Oxford where Mills took more photos and took the

bouncy seat into evidence. [T. 54]. Toya signed a consent to search the home and Cherrelle demonstrated for Mills what happened with the bouncy seat. [T. 55]. Up to this point, no *Miranda* warning had been given, and no charges filed.

About six weeks later on January 4, 2006, Cherrelle German was offered a polygraph exam. [T. 146-47]. During an hour long preparation to take the polygraph, the polygrapher apparently felt that Cherrelle had confessed to abusing Mikia. *Id.* Mills was called in and Cherrelle was then *Mirandized*. *Id.* Cherrelle then wrote out another statement himself purportedly admitting that he "shook" Makia. [T. 60-62; Ex. 12]. Cherrelle also said the other children in the house were rambunctious, and may have "slid into Makia". *Id.*

Greg Stidham, a pediatric intensive care physician from LeBonhuer Hospital testified that Makia was admitted to the intensive care unit once she arrived in Memphis. [T. 90]. The child's main injuries were "bleeding over the surface of the brain, swelling of the brain and hemorrhages in the retina". [T. 91, 95-97]. There was bruising on her face and a skull fracture as well. [T. 95-97]. She was having seizures which resulted from the brain injury. *Id.* The seizures involved "convulsive shaking of all four extremities ... eyes rolling back in the head" and cessation of breathing which "required the assistance of mechanical ventilation." [T. 92]. When admitted, Makia's condition was "extremely critical". *Id.*

Dr. Stidham attributed the cause of the injuries to be, as "pathognomic ... or almost

exclusively" in a two-month-old, severe shaking with impact to the head. [T. 95-97].

According to Dr. Stidham, the child's injuries were not likely caused by a fall from the bouncy seat. [T. 102-03].

Dr. Jason Waller was Makia's primary emergency doctor at Baptist Memorial Hospital in Oxford. [T. 107]. Dr. Waller saw Makia at intake and has also has followed up with her since the incident. *Id.* Dr. Waller's initial observations included bruising on both sides of the baby's face which he labeled as inconsistent with a fall. [T. 116]. Dr. Waller noted that the child's injuries have caused severe developmental delay. [T. 117]. She cannot sit up, she has a feeding tube because she cannot eat on her own. She does not walk or talk. *Id.* She has a continuing problem with brain swelling. [T. 119-20]. She is blind and has seizures. [T. 125].

Cherrelle testified that while Mills was *Mirandizing* him, Cherrelle kept saying "I didn't confess to anything." [T. 153]. Cherrelle testified that when he came back from using the bathroom and fixing something to eat, the child had turned over in her bouncy seat and that he check her out, and kept her awake. [T. 152, 156]. Cherrelle explained that in using the word "shake" in his second statement, he was not describing anything violent, just a gentle shake to see if Makia was alright. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

German's trial counsel was ineffective to the point of adversely affecting the outcome of the trial. The trial court should not have allowed polygraph evidence into the trial. German did not actually confess to the crime charged in the indictment, hence the state's case was purely circumstantial lacking the evidentiary weight to prove anything beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypophysis consistent with innocense.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

ISSUE NO. 1: WAS GERMAN'S TRIAL RENDERED UNFAIR BY INEFFECTIVE DEFENSE COUNSEL?

German asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective in the following ways: (a) by allowing a sheriff's investigator to give damaging medical opinion testimony based on hearsay without objection, and, (b) by mishandling challenges to statements purportedly given by the defendant, and, (c) by stipulating that certain injuries of the alleged victim were "profound" which exceeded the state's burden of proof, and, (d) by failing to submit a circumstantial evidence instruction. All of these rendered the trial in this case unfair.

Medical Opinion & Hearsay from Investigator

Investigator Mills gave opinion based explanation of Makia's injuries and

condition, without objection from defense counsel, including phrases like, "...you will also notice around the top of both of her eyes it appears to be redness like blood pooling behind her eyes and I observed that myself, also on her eyelids" and "[i]f you will look above the eyes on the eyelid you will see the redness which is described to me as by the doctors (sic) as blood beginning to pool behind her eyelids." [T. 49-51]. Mills was far from being qualified to give medical opinion testimony and what Mills said was rank incompetent hearsay. With counsel never objecting, the state's case was bolstered by this incompetent evidence.

Admission of expert opinion testimony is governed by Miss. R. Evid. 702. In *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31, 34-36 (Miss 2003), the Court ruled that to give opinion testimony, a person must be qualified. See also *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 791-92 (Miss.2007).

In *Palmer v. Volkswagen of America, Inc.*, 904 So.2d 1077, 1092 (Miss. 2005), the Supreme Court found that the plaintiff was prejudiced by improper opinion testimony from an engineer on a topic which "required scientific, technical knowledge beyond that of the randomly selected adult, [and thus] ... constituted expert testimony". German's position here is that pediatric emergency care is an area requiring expert testimony under Miss. R. Evid. Rule 702.

Here, Mills was not testifying merely as to what he observed; he told the jury what he *concluded* based on his observations. The case of *Goodson v. State*, 566 So. 2d 1142,

1153 (Miss. 1990) is authority for the proposition that German was prejudiced by the admission of Mill's incompetent opinions. The *Goodson* court reversed, in part, because the physician who testified for the state did not have expertise to give an opinion with the reliability required by Rule 702 and, "[t]here was a substantial probability that the jury would be mislead by [the doctor's] opinion", and letting [the doctor] testify [outside of his field] denied Goodson the right to a fair trial. Rule 103(a) Miss. R. Evid. *Id.* at 1148. See also *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2d 787, 791-92 (Miss.2007).

Here, German was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object because, the sheriff's investigator giving medical testimony not only bolstered the state's case in chief, it also arguably added more credence to Mill's other testimony than it might have deserved, not forgetting either the dilution of German's cross examination access under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U. S. Constitution and Article 3 § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

Hearsay is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Miss. R. Evid. 801(c); Clemons v. State, 732 So.2d 883, 888 (Miss. 1999). Mill's repetition of what the doctors and staff told him would be hornbook hearsay not falling under any of the relegated exceptions.

In Ratcliff v. State, 308 So. 2d 225, 226-27 (Miss. 1975), a police officer was allowed to testify what an informant had told him during the officer's investigation. The

court said, "[i]nvestigators cannot be permitted to relate to a jury hearsay which is incriminating in its effect as to a defendant on trial for a crime . . . [w]hat an informant told [the investigating officers] was hearsay and inadmissible to the jury." *Id*.

The victim in *Ratcliff* had testified identifying the defendant. Nevertheless, the *Ratcliff* court reversed and remanded the armed robbery conviction based, in part, on the circumvention of the defendant's cross-examination rights which resulted from the admission of the hearsay. *Id.*

In Anderson v. State, 156 So. 645, 646-47 (Miss. 1934), it was pointed out that: [t]his court has consistently condemned the practice of undertaking to bolster up the testimony of a witness on the stand, and to strengthen his credibility by proof of his declarations to the same effect as sworn to by him out of court.

In Anderson, investigating officers were allowed to testify that they took the defendant to the victim who was in bed recouping from being shot and that the victim identified the defendant. The Anderson court reversed the conviction stating "[t]he testimony of [the officers] under the circumstances should not have been admitted." Id. If the testimony was inadmissible and reversible error in Ratcliff and Anderson, it would be inadmissible here.

This is not the kind of investigatory exception to hearsay which has been carved out to explain an investigating officers action as in *Jackson v. State*, 935 So.2d 1108, 1114 (Miss. App. 2006). In *Jackson* the testimony was offered to "to show why an officer acted as he did and where he was at a particular place at a particular time . . . [and]

not introduced for the purpose of proving the truth of the assertion."

The polygraph and character evidence.

Both of German's written statements were admitted without objection. [T. 58-62; Ex. 10, 12]. On cross-examination of Inv. Mills, defense counsel asked to be allowed to go into the fact that German had been offered a polygraph examination, a topic which was carefully avoided by the state. [T. 63-74].

Not only did counsel want the jury know about the polygraph, but wanted the jury to know that German was in jail for other charges. [T. 64-73]. The learned trial court judge initially refused to allow this evidence, but due to the persistence of defense counsel, eventually acquiesced and allowed the topics to go before the jury. [T. 71-73]. After counsel sought to have the polygraph information introduced, he sought a mistrial based on admission of the statements, which was denied. [T. 82-84].

Then, at the close of the evidence, defense counsel moved for suppression of German's statements. [T. 172-75]. Trial counsel on one hand wanted the jury to know about the facts surrounding German not taking a polygraph test, but on the other hand wanted German's statements suppressed afterwards. [T. 63-74, 172-75].

German's position now is that this was not strategy. These actions by trial counsel involve two diametrically opposed ideas, which when presented to the jury had no other result but to prejudice German. The jury here, no doubt, concluded that German was apprehensive about taking the lie detector test because he considered himself guilty.

In *McGee v. State*, 907 So.2d 380, 384-85 (Miss. App. 2005), the court pointed out that a criminal defendant's confession "is subject to attack at a suppression hearing if there is a suggestion that the confession is not knowingly, freely, and voluntarily offered. See *Palm v. State*, 724 So.2d 424, 426(¶7) (Miss. Ct. App.1998). A successful suppression motion results in a "total elimination of the confession from the hearing of the jury by the trial judge after considering the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* In the present case, counsel waited until the end of the trial to ask that the defendant's statement given after the polygraph situation after the jury had already heard it. [T. 172-75].

Moreover, counsel insisted that the trial judge allow testimony that not only showed that German gave the second statement on the verge of submitting to a polygraph, but also allowed the jury to hear that German was in jail on other charges as well which violated Miss. R. Evid. Rule 404(b).

In *Weatherspoon v. State*, 732 So.2d 158, 161-63 (Miss.1999), "the defendant wanted to testify that he had volunteered to take a polygraph test. The trial court refused to allow that testimony, and the court affirmed noting that "it should be made clear that any evidence pertaining to a witness's offer to take a polygraph, refusal to take a polygraph test, the fact that a witness took a polygraph test or the results of a polygraph test is inadmissible at trial by the State or by the defense." See also *Manning v. State*, 929 So.2d 885, 893-94 (¶ 22-23)(Miss. 2006).

Stipulation

During trial, defense counsel formally stipulated that Makia's injuries were "substantial and profound", worse than statutorily required for conviction. [T. 139-40, 175; Ex. 21]. The stipulation was reduced to writing and submitted with the regular jury instructions. *Id*.

The portion of the statute under which German was indicted, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39 (2)(a) (Rev. 2005), states in pertinent part, "[a]ny person who shall intentionally whip, strike or otherwise abuse ... any child in such a manner as to cause serious bodily harm, shall be guilty of felonious abuse of a child."

Counsel's actions were fatal to due process and a fair trial. German was entitled to have a jury determine the extent and quality of the alleged victim's injuries. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), Miss.

Constitution 1890 Art. 3, §26. There is no imaginable reasonable trial strategy whereby counsel would want to agree that, not only has the state met its burden, but even surpassed it.

Circumstantial Evidence Instruction

It is the appellant's position that the statements he purportedly gave were not confessions. According to the medical testimony, Makia's injuries were allegedly the result of severe shaking with impact to the head. [T. 95-97]. German did not admit this type of conduct. Hence, the case remained circumstantial. The state through the grand

jury chose to include specific injuries in the indictment, including an alleged skull fracture. [R. 1]. No mechanism was admitted by the defendant whereby the victim received a skull fracture as required by the stated charges.

Circumstantial evidence instructions are required where all evidence of the crime is entirely circumstantial, that is, when the prosecution cannot produce an eyewitness or a confession. *Jones v. State*, 797 So.2d 922, 929 (Miss. 2001), *Givens v. State*, 618 So.2d 1313, 1320 (Miss.1993), *McNeal v. State*, 551 So.2d 151, 157 (Miss. 1989), *Harris v. State*, 908 So.2d 868 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Here no circumstantial evidence instructions were requested nor given at German's trial.

In circumstantial evidence cases it is mandatory for the trial court to grant two jury instructions addressing the increased burden of proof to beyond a reasonable doubt and to the exclusion of every reasonable hypothesis consistent with innocence and the second "two-theory" when properly requested and supported by the evidence. See *Parker v. State*, 606 So.2d 1132, 1140 (Miss. 1992). Failure to grant constitutes reversible error. *Id.*

However, even though appropriate, the instructions must be requested by the defense. *Poole v. State*, 231 Miss. 1, 94 So.2d 239, 240 (1957). It is not a trial court's duty to prepare instructions for either party. *Samuels v. State*, 371 So.2d 394, 396 (Miss. 1979), and *Ballenger v. State*, 667 So.2d 1242, 1252 (Miss. 1995).

Failure to seek proper jury instructions deprives a criminal defendant of the

fundamental constitutional right to a fair trial; because, a defendant is entitled to have the jury fully and properly instructed on theories of defense for which there is a factual basis in evidence. *Green v. State*, 884 So. 2d 733, 735-38 (Miss. 2004).

General Discussion of Ineffective Counsel

The Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized that the "benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Ransom v. State*, 919 So.2d 887, 889 (Miss. 2005) (Citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Under the two-pronged test of *Strickland*, adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Stringer v. State*, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss.1984), a defendant "must prove under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was defective and (2) such deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial." 919 So.2d 889-90. There is a "strong, but rebuttable presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Id.*

The defendant must also establish "that there is a reasonable probability that but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court." *Id.*The actions which fall within "trial strategy" include "failure to file certain motions, call certain witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections" and do not

necessarily render counsel's actions ineffective. *Id.* Trial counsel's "performance as a whole [must fall] below the standard of reasonableness and that the mistakes made were serious enough to erode confidence in the outcome of the trial" *Id.*

In *Payton v. State,* 708 So. 2d 559, 560-64 (Miss. 1998), the court found that defense counsel's failure to investigate rendered the representation constitutionally ineffective. Payton's counsel basically did not make any effort to interview easily available witnesses nor investigate physical aspects of the case. *Id.* By thus failing, the court found that Payton's counsel did not provide a basic defense. *Id.* In *Payton*, the case boiled down to the defendant's word against the victim's word. The court found that the lack of investigation "affecting the outcome of the trial by casting doubt on the credibility of the complaining witness". *Id.*

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