## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CHERELLE L. GERMAN** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1277

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

First, the state contends German has not shown that his trial counsel rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance. He has not established that his counsel's performance was so deplorable as to require the trial court to declare a mistrial *sua sponte*.

Furthermore, German may not be heard to complain about the admission of evidence which he elicited.

Finally, the state submits the verdict is not contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The state presented substantial proof that the defendant was guilty of felonious child abuse.

#### PROPOSITION ONE:

# GERMAN HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE

German argues first that he was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel at trial. He faces formidable hurdles, summarized follows:

The Mississippi Supreme Court has adopted the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) in determining whether a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel should prevail. . . . *Rankin v. State*, 636 So.2d 652, 656 (Miss.1994) enunciates the application of *Strickland*:

The Strickland test requires a showing that counsel's performance was sufficiently deficient to constitute prejudice to the defense.

... The defendant has the burden of proof on both prongs. A strong but rebuttable presumption, that counsel's performance falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, exists.

The defendant must show that but for his attorney's errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would have received a different result in the trial court....

Viewed from the totality of the circumstances, this Court must determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. . . . Scrutiny of counsel's performance by this Court must be deferential. . . . If the defendant raises questions of fact regarding either deficiency of counsel's conduct or prejudice to the defense, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing. . . . Where this Court determines defendant's counsel was constitutionally ineffective, the appropriate remedy is to reverse and remand for a new trial.

In short, a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal

has two components to comply with Strickland. First, he must show that counsel's performance was deficient, that he made errors so serious that he was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that counsel's errors deprived him of a fair trial with reliable results.

(emphasis added) *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102-03 (Miss. App.1999).

Because this point is raised on direct appeal, the defendant encounters an additional obstacle: the pertinent question

is not whether trial counsel was or was not ineffective but whether the trial judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or to order a new trial, sua sponte on the basis of trial counsel's performance. "Inadequacy of counsel" refers to representation that is so lacking in competence that the trial judge has the duty to correct it so as to prevent a mockery of justice. Parham v. State, 229 So.2d 582, 583 (Miss. 1969). To reason otherwise would be to cast the appellate court in the role of a finder of fact; it does not sit to resolve factual inquiries. Malone v. State, 486 So.2d 367, 369 n. 2 (Miss.1986). Read [v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss.1983)] clearly articulates that the method that the issue of a trial counsel's effectiveness can be susceptible to review by an appellate court requires that the counsel's effectiveness, or lack thereof, be discernable from the four corners of the trial record. This is to say that if this Court can determine from the record that counsel was ineffective, then it should have been apparent to the presiding judge, who had the duty, under Parham, to declare a mistrial or order a new trial sua sponte.

(emphasis added) Colenburg, 735 So.2d at 1102.

Accord, Clayton v. State, 946 So.2d 796 (Miss. 796, 803 (Miss. App. 2006); Madison v. State, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss. App. 2006); Jenkins v. State, 912 So.2d 165, 173 (Miss. App. 2005); Walker v. State, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. App. 2002); Estes v. State, 782 So.2d 1244, 1248-49 (Miss. App. 2000).

German has not shown that his trial counsel's performance was so deplorable as to require the court to declare a mistrial on its own motion. Because he has not sustained the particular burden he faces when raising this issue on direct appeal, the state submits his first proposition should be denied without prejudice to its being advanced in a motion for post-conviction collateral relief.

For the sake of argument, the state addresses German's particular claims. First, he asserts his trial counsel committed an unprofessional lapse by failing to object to medical opinion testimony given by Detective Mills. (T.49-52) The state counters that defense counsel's choice of whether "to make certain objections" falls "within the ambit of trial strategy." *Hancock v. State*, 964 So.2d 1167, 1175 (Miss. App. 2007). Furthermore, assuming *arguendo* that Detective Mills's testimony was objectionable and that defense counsel committed an unprofessional error in failing to interpose an objection, the state submits that this testimony was cumulative to that properly admitted during the direct examinations of Dr. Stidham and Dr. Waller. It follows that even if German could demonstrate an unprofessional lapse, he could not show prejudice with respect to this point.

German asserts next that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective in eliciting testimony about German's offer to submit to a polygraph examination. The record demonstrates that defense counsel wished to introduce this testimony to show that German did not appear "at the jail" to confess to this crime, but to undergo a polygraph examination. (T.64-71) The trial court summarized defense counsel's position as follows: "And what you want is the clear picture that he came in to be polygraphed and he decided to confess." (T.71) Defense counsel responded,

What I want is for the jurors to understand the facts of

what happened. Like I said Mr. Creekmore specifically asked Detective Mills what happened on January 4<sup>th</sup>. And Detective Mills went into fair detail other than what I'm saying. So he testified that that is what happened on January 4<sup>th</sup>. He needs to testify to everything that happened. The jurors are entitled to that not just what they want them to know.

\* \* \* \*

What I want the jurors to understand is that my client did not have the intent of giving a confession as Detective Mills is putting it. And I want them to also understand that my client was under duress because my client was interrogated by the polygraphers and the prosecution they have one of the polygraphers on the list they were going to call this person but they thought better of it because they know that they shouldn't call them.

(T.71-72)

As shown by the foregoing excerpt, defense counsel articulated a rational purpose for eliciting this evidence. Thus, counsel's procedure with reference to this issue was a matter of trial strategy. That decision is entitled to "much deference" and should be viewed without "the distorting effects of hindsight." *Powers v. State*, 883 So.2d 20, 34 (Miss.2003). German has failed to establish that his trial counsel committed an unprofessional error in eliciting testimony about the defendant's offer to submit to a polygraph examination.

Additionally, German contends his trial counsel committed an unprofessional lapse in stipulating to the fact that Mikia's injuries were "substantial and profound." On direct examination, Mrs. Hilliard testified about her child's permanent damage and the continual need for medication and hospitalization. (T.139) Thereafter, the following was taken:

BY MR. DIXON: Your Honor, I object to this line of questioning. It's undisputed that the child has suffered serious injury. We have had two doctors testify to the child's injuries. And Mrs. Hilliard herself has already testified that the child is seriously injured. I believe that

everyone in the courtroom understand that at this point.

BY MR. TROUT: If counsel is offering to stipulate that the child is severely and profoundly injured, neurologically and otherwise and stipulate to that then we will certainly not ask any more questions.

BY THE COURT: He is asking if you want to stipulate with exactly what he just said.

BY MR. DIXON: I will stipulate to the child is seriously injured but that in no way means who injured the child or how the child was injured.

BY MR. TROUT: I'm not asking for any stipulation on how the child was injured. I just want a stipulation that the child was seriously and profoundly injured.

BY MR. DIXON: I will stipulate, Your Honor.

(emphasis added) (T.139-40)

Viewed with the required deference, defense counsel's action must be deemed strategic. Obviously, counsel was attempting to prevent the jury's hearing any further heart-rending testimony about the lingering effects of the baby's devastating injuries. In any case, the stipulation was cumulative to the detailed testimony of Dr. Stidham and Dr. Waller. It follows that German can establish neither an unprofessional lapse nor prejudice with respect to this point. See *Bell v. State*. 879 So.2d 423, 440 (Miss.2004), and *Waldon v. State*, 749 So.2d 262, 267 (Miss. App. 1999).

Finally, German argues that his trial counsel was ineffective in failing to proffer a circumstantial evidence instruction. The state counters that even if such an instruction had been tendered, the court would not have erred in refusing it. "The supreme court has found that a defendant's admission to an important element of a crime negates the need for a circumstantial evidence instruction." *Smith v. State*, 981 So.2d 1025, 1032 (Miss. App.

2008). Accord, *Swinney v. State*, 829 So.2d 1225, 1236-37 (Miss.2002). While German did not give a full confession, he did admit that he shook the baby. This admission was sufficient to obviate the need for a circumstantial evidence instruction. Thus, defense counsel cannot be faulted for failing to request such a charge.

The state reiterates that German has not shown that his trial counsel's performance was so deficient as to require the trial court to declare a mistrial *sua sponte*. His first proposition should be denied.

#### PROPOSITION TWO:

# GERMAN MAY NOT PUT THE TRIAL COURT IN ERROR FOR ADMITTING TESTIMONY WHICH HE ELICITED

Under his second proposition, German argues that the trial court committed reversible error in allowing evidence that he had offered to submit to a polygraph examination. The state incorporates by reference its response under Proposition One of this brief in asserting that German himself elicited this evidence.

This issue arose during cross-examination of Detective Mills, when defense counsel asked, "Why was he [German] in your presence to begin with?" Having been granted the request to be heard outside the presence of the jury, the prosecutor expressed his concern that defense counsel was on the verge of inquiring about whether a polygraph examination had been requested. The court acknowledged that although the defendant had never submitted to such examination, the fact that he had offered and/or been asked to submit to one would be inadmissible. As stated under Proposition One of this brief, defense counsel went on to delineate his reasons for eliciting testimony that his client had gone to the jail to submit to a polygraph examination. (T.63-69) Thereafter, the court stated the following, in pertinent part:

BY THE COURT: All right. I think the State has avoided the subject dutifully and deliberately ... If you are using it to show why he was present at the jail then, you know, and you think it's exculpatory, then I think under those circumstances maybe you can seek to illicit [sic] testimony about the polygraph. Because the polygraph itself is peripheral to the point you are trying to make. You are trying to say why he is in the jail.

I don't see any problem with you cross-examining him on that point if that is your wish. All right. So I am going to allow the testimony about polygraph because it's not polygraph results it's the point you are trying to establish about the nature of the interrogation. You don't need to avoid responding to questions about the polygraph. With the understanding if he decides to ask you about that you can respond.

(T.69-73)

The prosecutor then pointed out, "Just so that we are clear that they are waiving whatever objections they have to the polygraph." The court responded, "The record speaks for itself on these points." (T.73)

The state acknowledges at the outset that evidence of a witness's offer to take a polygraph test, the fact that he took such a test, or the results thereof are not admissible, whether offered by the state or the defense. Weatherspoon v. State, 732 So.2d 158, 161-62 (Miss.1999). However, admission of evidence regarding a witness's offer or refusal to take a polygraph test "does not automatically demand reversal." Rubenstein v. State, 941 So.2d 735, 768 (Miss.2006) Rather, "The nature of the admission and the circumstances attendant to its disclosure must be considered." Id. The issue is also subject to the procedural bar in the absence of objection. Id.

It is axiomatic that a defendant cannot complain about the admission of evidence

elicited by himself. *Jordan v. State*, 995 So.2d 94, 112 (Miss.2008). Accord, *Towner v. State*, 726 So.2d 251, 255 (Miss. App. 1998). "Whenever a defendant makes a calculated, tactical choice and comes out on the losing end, he cannot then shift the burden to the state or to the trial judge." *Lancaster v. State*, 472 So.2d 363, 366 (Miss. 1985). Having made such a deliberate choice, the defense may not put the trial court in error on this point. German's second proposition should be denied.

#### PROPOSITION THREE:

# THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Finally, German challenges the weight of the evidence undergirding his conviction.

To prevail, he must satisfy the following formidable standard of review:

The standard of review in determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is also well settled. "[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." Collins v. State, 757 So.2d 335, 337(¶ 5) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (quoting *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180,  $182(\P 9)$  (Miss.1998)). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." Collins, 757 So.2d at 337(¶ 5) (citing Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss. 1992)). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." Collins, 757 So.2d at  $337(\P 5)$  (quoting *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182).

Carle v. State, 864 So.2d 993, 998 (Miss. App. 2004).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As the Mississippi Supreme Court reitereated in *Hales v. State*, 933

So.2d 962, 968 (Miss.2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight

issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for

the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not

intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury. "[citations omitted]

We incorporate by reference the proof set out in our Statement of Substantive Facts

to support our position that the prosecution presented substantial credible evidence of

German's guilt of felonious child abuse. Specifically, the state presented credible proof that

the victim had been injured by a violent, aggressive shaking with impact, and that these

injuries could not have been caused by a fall from a "bouncy seat" or by a two-year-old child.

The defendant was the only person present who could have inflicted this damage. The state

also presented evidence that the defendant was irritated with having been tasked with child

care and with the baby's crying in particular. He also admitted that he shook the infant.

No basis exists for disturbing the jury's determination that German was guilty of

felonious child abuse. His final proposition should be denied

**CONCLUSION** 

The state respectfully submits the argument presented by German are without merit.

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